
 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 1 of 24 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 

 

DECEMBER 16, 2025 BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES (DRAFT) 

 

 

A Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Land Bank was held on Tuesday, 

December 16, 2025, at 1234 Market Street, 17th Floor Boardroom, Philadelphia, PA 19107, of which 

proper notices were given. A condensed certified transcript of this meeting is attached to these minutes 

as Exhibit A. 

 

Call to Order 

 

The meeting was called to order at 10:02 am. 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah announced that prior to the Public Session, the Board held an Executive Session 

during which Mr. Rodriguez went over the agenda. She outlined public comment procedures, including 

sign-up requirements, a two-minute time limit per speaker, and the expectation that comments relate 

to the agenda item without personal attacks, accusations, or hate speech. She also noted that the meeting 

may be recorded by attendees in accordance with the Sunshine Act. 

 

Item I 

Roll Call 

 

The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Angela Brooks, Nick Dema, 

Cornelius Brown, Andrew Goodman, Rebecca Lopez Kriss, Jenny Greenberg, Alex Balloon, Maria 

Gonzalez.  

 

Kelvin Jeremiah, Darwin Beauvais, and Michael Johns were absent from the Board meeting.   

 

The following Land Bank staff members were present: Angel Rodriguez, Andrea Imredy Saah, Esq., 

Lily Bernadel, Esq., Cristina Martinez, Brian Romano, Todd Hestand, and Carolyn Terry. 

 

Public Attendees: The list of public attendees follows these minutes.   

 

Item II 

Approval of Board Minutes 

 

REMOVED FROM AGENDA 

 

Ms. Imredy Saah noted that the minutes from last November’s meeting were not submitted for approval 

because the transcript was not received in time to ensure accuracy. The minutes will be included in the 

Board packet for next month’s meeting.   

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 99 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 2 of 24 

Item III 

Executive Director’s Report 

 

No Executive Director’s report was provided this month.   

 

Item IV 

Administrative 

 

IV.A.  Approval of the 2026 Calendar of Land Bank Board Meetings   

 

Ms. Saah explained that the Board must annually adopt and publish its meeting schedule, which was 

included in the Board Packet. She noted that meetings are typically held on the second Tuesday of each 

month, with September scheduled for the third Tuesday due to the Labor Day holiday.  

 

Mr. Balloon moved to approve the calendar, and Ms. Lopez-Kriss seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Adopting 

Philadelphia Land Bank Schedule of Regular Board of Directors Meeting for Calendar Year 2026 

(attached to these minutes as Exhibit B). 

 

 

Item V 

Property Dispositions 

 

V.A.1.  Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited) – Trinity Property Advisors LLC 

 

Mr. Hestand presented the next agenda item, seeking Board approval to dispose of 134, 138, and 140 

North 58th Street to Trinity Property Advisors LLC to develop three single-family homes in the Fourth 

(4th) Council District. The developer, a participant in the Black Squirrel Economic Alliance’s RiSE 

Real Estate Accelerator program, proposes two-story, three-bedroom homes of approximately 1,100 

square feet, priced up to $280,000 for households at or below 100% of Area Median Income (AMI). 

The project is eligible for the Turn the Key Program, subject to restrictive covenants and an EOP plan, 

was evaluated under the disposition policy, and received community support with no objections. 

 

Chair Brooks asked if there were any Board questions or written comments.  

 

Ms. Imredy Saah reported that multiple written comments were received, all uniformly positive and in 

support of the disposition, including letters from Councilmember Curtis Jones Jr. (4th District) and 

several development and community organizations. All the written comments received are attached to 

these minutes as Exhibit C. 

 

Chair Brooks noted that no members of the public signed up to speak on the item and called for a 

motion to adopt the resolution.  

 

Ms. Gonzalez moved to approve the disposition, and Mr. Goodman seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 

Conveyance of 134, 138, and 140 North 58th Street to Trinity Property Advisors LLC (attached 

to these minutes as Exhibit D). 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 100 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 3 of 24 

V.A.2. Development – Affordable Housing (unsolicited) – 17th Street Community Phase Two, LP 

Mr. Romano presented the next item, requesting Board approval to coney 1403, 1409, 1415, 1428, 

1436 and 1441 North 17th Street and 1624 and 1626 Jefferson Street to 17th Street Community Phase 

Two LP for the development of the second phase of a Low Income Housing Tax Credit project in the 

Fifth (5th) Council District. He stated that the project proposes 38 affordable rental units across nine 

(9) buildings, serving households earning 20% to 50% of AMI.  Mr. Romano noted that the application 

was unsolicited and that EOP requirements will apply. He stated that a community meeting was held 

on December 2, 2025, along with several additional meetings with the community. Mr. Romano also 

reported that the Land Bank properties conveyed for Phase One of the project, which consisted of 40 

rental units, went to settlement in September. 

 

Chair Brooks called for questions from the Board or written comments. There were none. 

 

Chair Brooks noted that no members of the public signed up to speak and then called for a motion on 

the item.  

 

Ms. Greenberg moved to adopt, and Mr. Goodman seconded the motion.  

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution Authorizing 

Conveyance of 1403, 1409, 1415, 1428, 1436 and 1441 N. 17th Street and 1624 and 1626 Jefferson 

Street to 17th Street Community Phase Two, L.P. (attached to these minutes as Exhibit E). 

 

V.B.C.1.  Side/Rear Yards 

Ms. Martinez presented the last agenda item, requesting Board approval to dispose of 1909 North 

Van Pelt Street in the Fifth (5th) Council District as a side yard to the adjacent owner, Nomble F. 

Lee. She noted that the unsolicited application was evaluated under the disposition policy, the 

property will be subject to a 30-year mortgage and permanent side-yard restrictions, and that an 

EOP plan does not apply. 

 

Chair Brooks called for questions from the Board or written comments. There were none.  

 

Chair Brooks noted that no members of the public signed up to speak on the item and called for a 

motion.  

 

Ms. Gonzalez moved to adopt, and Mr. Balloon seconded the motion. 

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously approved the Resolution 

Authorizing Conveyance of 1909 North Van Pelt Street to Nomble F. Lee (attached to these 

minutes as Exhibit F). 

 

Item VI 

Public Comment (Old & New Business) 

 

Chair Brooks opened public comment and noted that Jeremy Blatstein was the only speaker.  

 

Mr. Blatstein raised concerns about conflicts of interest and recusal standards for Board members and 

urged clearer guidance for the public. He also emphasized the need to increase housing production, 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 101 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 4 of 24 

encouraged faster Land Bank dispositions, and expressed support for the Board’s direction in 

advancing the Mayor’s housing goals.  

 

Mr. Goodman asked Ms. Gonzalez whether she had any economic stake in any project before the Board 

in the past month. Ms. Gonzalez responded that she did not. 

 

Mr. Blatstein clarified that his comments were not limited to economic interests as the basis for a 

conflict of interest.  

 

Ms. Imredy Saah explained that, under the City’s definition, a conflict of interest requires an economic 

or financial stake in a project before the Board, which was not the case for Mr. Johns or Ms. Gonzalez. 

She further explained that Mr. Johns voluntarily recused himself from a discussion about a proposed 

project at the November 18, 2025 Board meeting to avoid the appearance of a conflict due to his 

involvement in helping a family member obtain a grant from the Council District in which the project 

was to be sited. Chair Brooks thanked Ms. Saah for the clarification. 

 

Mr. Rodriguez added that the Board has a conflicts-of-interest policy and that the Board has complied 

with and not deviated from that policy. 

 

Item VII 

Adjournment 

 

Seeing no further comments from the Board or the public, Chair Brooks called for a motion to adjourn. 

 

Mr. Balloon moved to adjourn the meeting. Ms. Gonzalez seconded the motion.   

 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the Board unanimously voted to adjourn at 10:16 a.m. 

 

  

SECRETARY TO THE BOARD 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 102 of 160



 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 5 of 24 

 

PUBLIC ATTENDANCE SHEET 

 

PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, December 16, 2025, at 10:00 AM. 

 

User Name 
Jackie Gissinger 

Jon Geeting 

Taylor Delapena 

Colin Forwood 

Antonio Cerqueria 

Mike Tomasetti 

Brennan Tomasetti 

Kenneth Hawley 

Noah Reimer 

Kileaf R. 

Jeremy Blatstein 

Candis Pressley 

Dawn Wilkerson 

Lisa Johnson 

Colan Crosley 

Karen M. 

Nomble Lee 

Zane Knight 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 103 of 160



EXHIBIT A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 6 of 24 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 104 of 160



EXHIBIT A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 7 of 24 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 105 of 160



EXHIBIT A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 8 of 24 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 106 of 160



EXHIBIT A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 9 of 24 
 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 107 of 160



EXHIBIT A 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 10 of 24 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 108 of 160



EXHIBIT B 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 11 of 24 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 – 54 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

1403, 1409, 1415, 1428, 1436 AND 1441 N. 17TH STREET  

AND 1624 AND 1626 JEFFERSON STREET 

TO 17TH STREET COMMUNITY PHASE TWO, L.P. 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 

property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 

Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 

terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 

interests of the Land Bank to convey 1403, 1409, 1415, 1428, 1436 and 1441 North 17th Street and 

1624 and 1626 Jefferson Street (collectively, the “Property”) to 17th Street Community Phase Two, 

L.P. (the “Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 

Land Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Eight and 00/100 U.S. Dollars ($8.00) is in 

the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of 

Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 

and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 

desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 

Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 

Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 

Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 

terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 

appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 

Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 

Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 

following the date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on December 16, 2025. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 109 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 12 of 24 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 110 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 13 of 24 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 111 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 14 of 24 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 112 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 15 of 24 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 113 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 16 of 24 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 114 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 17 of 24 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 115 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 18 of 24 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 116 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 19 of 24 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 117 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 20 of 24 

 

 

 

 

  

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 118 of 160



EXHIBIT C 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 21 of 24 

 

 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 119 of 160



EXHIBIT D 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 22 of 24 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 53 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

134, 138 AND 140 NORTH 58TH STREET TO  

TRINITY PROPERTY ADVISORS LLC 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 

property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 

Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 

terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 

interests of the Land Bank to convey 134, 138 and 140 North 58th Street (collectively, the 

“Property”) to Trinity Property Advisors LLC (the “Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 

Land Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Three Thousand and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 

($3,000.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval 

by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 

and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 

desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 

Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 

Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 

Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 

terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 

appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 

Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 

Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 

following the date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on December 16, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 120 of 160



EXHIBIT E 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 23 of 24 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 – 54 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

1403, 1409, 1415, 1428, 1436 AND 1441 N. 17TH STREET  

AND 1624 AND 1626 JEFFERSON STREET 

TO 17TH STREET COMMUNITY PHASE TWO, L.P. 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 

property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 

Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 

terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 

interests of the Land Bank to convey 1403, 1409, 1415, 1428, 1436 and 1441 North 17th Street and 

1624 and 1626 Jefferson Street (collectively, the “Property”) to 17th Street Community Phase Two, 

L.P. (the “Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 

Land Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for Eight and 00/100 U.S. Dollars ($8.00) is in 

the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval by resolution of 

Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 

and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 

desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 

Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 

Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 

Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 

terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 

appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 

Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 

Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 

following the date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on December 16, 2025. 

 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 121 of 160



EXHIBIT F 

PLB Board of Directors DRAFT Meeting Minutes for December 16, 2025  Page 24 of 24 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025 - 55 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING CONVEYANCE OF  

1909 NORTH VAN PELT STREET TO  

NOMBLE F. LEE 

 

WHEREAS, Section 16-706 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the Philadelphia Land 

Bank (the “Land Bank”) to convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease, grant or mortgage interests in real 

property of the Land Bank in the form and by the method determined to be in the best interests of the 

Land Bank, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council, and subject further to the 

terms and conditions of Chapter 16-400 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best 

interests of the Land Bank to convey 1909 North Van Pelt Street (the “Property”) to Nomble F. Lee 

(the “Purchaser”). 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia 

Land Bank that: 

 

1. The conveyance of the Property to the Purchaser for One and 00/100 U.S. Dollar ($1.00) and a 

mortgage of Forty-Four Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Nine and 00/100 U.S. Dollars 

($44,999.00) is in the best interests of the Land Bank and is hereby approved, subject to approval 

by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

2. The conveyance of the Property complies with all applicable terms and conditions of Section 16-

404 of the Philadelphia Code, subject to approval by resolution of Philadelphia City Council. 

 

3. Subject to the terms of this Resolution, the Executive Director and Senior Counsel are each 

hereby authorized, in the name of and on behalf of the Land Bank, to prepare, execute, deliver, 

and perform any and all agreements, deeds, and other documents, as may be necessary or 

desirable, to consummate the conveyance of the Property (collectively, the “Transaction 

Documents”) and, from time to time and at any time, amend, supplement, and modify the 

Transaction Documents, or any of them, as may be necessary or desirable.  The Transaction 

Documents and any amendments, supplements, and modifications thereto shall contain such 

terms and conditions as the Executive Director and Senior Counsel shall deem necessary or 

appropriate subject to the terms of this Resolution, and, when so executed and delivered by the 

Land Bank shall constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Land Bank. 

 

4. The Executive Director with the advice of Senior Counsel may modify this Resolution as may be 

necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. The Executive Director or Senior 

Counsel will notify the Board of all modifications to this Resolution at the next Board meeting 

following the date of such modifications. 

 

5. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption by the Board. 

 

Adopted by Philadelphia Land Bank Board of Directors on December 16, 2025. 

Philadelphia Land Bank Board Meeting Package for January 13, 2026 Page 122 of 160


	Blank Page



